
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 05-CV-2294-PSF-MJW

VALARIE KAY KRALICEK,

Plaintiff,

v.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS RIO BLANCO COUNTY,
RIO BLANCO COUNTY BOARD OF SOCIAL SERVICES,
RIO BLANCO COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES and
BONNIE RUCKMAN, in her individual and official capacity as Director of

the Rio Blanco County Department of Social Services,

Defendants.  
                                                                                                                                                            

AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTAL COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiff Valarie Kay Kralicek, by and through her attorneys, Carrie Ann Lucas, Equal

Justice Works Fellow, and Kevin W. Williams, Legal Program Director, of the Colorado Cross-

Disability Coalition, and Fox & Robertson, P.C., hereby bring this Amended and Supplemental

Complaint against the Board of County Commissioners of Rio Blanco County (“Rio Blanco

County”), Rio Blanco County Board of Social Services (“Social Services Board”), Rio Blanco

County Department of Social Services (“DSS”) and Bonnie Ruckman in her individual and

official capacity as Director of the Rio Blanco County Department of Social Services. 

Introduction

1. More than fifteen years after the Americans with Disabilities Act was passed, Rio

Blanco County’s Department of Social Services has failed to provide reasonable modifications to
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1  42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(7).

2  H.R. Rep. 101-485(III),  1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 445, 448.
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policies, practices and procedures to give a mother with a developmental disability an

opportunity to reunify with her son who is placed in foster care.

2. On July 12, 1990, Congress enacted the Americans with Disabilities Act

(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., establishing the most important civil rights law for people

with disabilities in our country’s history.

3.  In enacting the Americans with Disabilities Act, Congress called people with

disabilities a “discrete and insular minority who have been faced with restrictions and

limitations, subjected to a history of purposeful unequal treatment, and relegated to a position of

political powerlessness in our society, based on characteristics that are beyond the control of

such individuals and resulting from stereotypic assumptions.”1

4. Among the many issues raised during testimony in support of the passage of the

ADA was the removal of children from the care and custody of their parents “based on

unfounded, outmoded stereotypes and perceptions, and deeply imbedded prejudices toward

people with disabilities.”2  During a hearing about the bill, a service provider to deaf and hard of

hearing people in Illinois testified: “[w]e have clients whose children have been taken away from
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The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1989: Hearings on H.R. 2273 Before the Subcomm. on
Subcommittees on Select Education and Employment of the Committee on Education and Labor,
101st Cong. 63 (July 18, 1989) (statement of Justin Dart, Chairperson of the Task Force on the
Rights and Empowerment of Americans with Disabilities).  

5  Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923), Smith v. Organization of Foster
Families for Equality & Reform, 431 U.S. 816, 842 (1977), Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services,
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7  Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. at 753.
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them and told to get parent information,3 but have no place to go because the services are not

accessible. What chance do they ever have to get their children back?”4  

5.  Establishing a home and raising children are among the most essential and basic

liberties our country recognizes.5  The U.S. Supreme Court has said, parental rights are “more

significant and priceless than ‘liberties which derive merely from shifting economic

arrangements,’”6 and that “[t]he fundamental liberty interest of natural parents in the care,

custody, and management of their child does not evaporate simply because they have not been

model parents or have lost temporary custody of their child to the State.”7

6. Valarie Kralicek’s parental rights are jeopardized because Rio Blanco County

Department of Social Services has failed to provide reasonable modifications to policies,

practices and procedures in violation of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),

42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794.
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7. In order to reunify her family, Ms. Kralicek must follow a treatment plan that “is

reasonably calculated to render [Ms. Kralicek] fit to provide adequate parenting to [her] child

within a reasonable time and that relates to [her] child's needs.”8  Because of her disability, Ms.

Kralicek has been unable to fully comply with her treatment plan in the time required, and has

requested reasonable modifications to be able to complete her plan.  Rio Blanco County has not

responded to her requests. 

8. Valarie Kralicek is at high risk of having her parental rights terminated because

she is unable to complete her treatment plan without reasonable modifications.  

Jurisdiction and Venue

9. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claim in this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

10. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

Parties

11. Valarie Kay Kralicek is a resident of Vernal, Utah.  She has a developmental

disability and as a result is substantially limited in several major life activities, including but not

limited to the major life activities of reading, learning, communicating, and social functioning .  

12. Defendant Board of County Commissioners Rio Blanco County provides child

welfare services through its Department of Social Services (“Department”).  

13. Defendant Rio Blanco County Board of Social Services provides child welfare

services, as well as administers public assistance programs.
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14. Defendant Rio Blanco County Department of Social Services (“DSS”) provides

child welfare services, as well as administers public assistance programs.

15. Defendant Bonnie Ruckman is the Director of Rio Blanco County’s Department

of Social Services.  

General Allegations

16. Plaintiff, Valarie Kralicek, is the natural mother of Montana Kralicek.  Montana

Kralicek is four years old.  

17. On or about November 17, 2004, Montana Kralicek was taken into protective

custody by Defendant DSS, and was placed into a foster home due to concerns about his health,

growth, and development.  At that time, Montana Kralicek was living with his mother, Plaintiff,

his grandparents Allfay and Alfred Kralicek, as well as an uncle near Rangely, Colorado.  The

Kraliceks had recently moved to Colorado from Utah.

18. On or about December 10, 2004, Defendants filed a Petition alleging Montana

Kralicek was dependent or neglected in Colorado, and named Plaintiff as a respondent.  Plaintiff

had a guardian ad litem, attorney Mark J. Fischer, appointed to represent her best interests due to

her developmental disability.  Defendants filed an Amended Petition alleging Montana Kralicek

was dependent or neglected on or about February 18, 2005.  

19. On or about March 11, 2005, Plaintiff stipulated to the Amended Petition, on the

condition Defendants agreed Plaintiff is developmentally disabled and that the treatment plan

would be developed so that Plaintiff would be capable of successfully completing it. 
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20. Plaintiff relocated to Utah to allow her to better access services appropriate to her

disability.  Plaintiff’s son was placed in foster care in Utah. 

21. The treatment plan was adopted on April 22, 2005 and required Plaintiff to

complete a number of objectives, including:

a. re-establish and maintain a safe and nurturing relationship with her son;

b. demonstrate the ability to provide sufficient financial and household

management resources to support herself and her son;

c. communicate regularly with preschool and medical personnel concerning

her son’s educational, developmental and health needs;

d. demonstrate appropriate social and parenting skills; and

e.  obtain and maintain a safe, nurturing and stable environment for her son

and herself. 

22. The goal of the treatment plan is reunification of Plaintiff and her son.

23. The treatment plan did not identify service providers to assist Plaintiff in meeting

her treatment plan objectives.

24. Plaintiff was to begin services to meet these objectives on April 22, 2005. 

However Defendants never identified any service providers to assist Plaintiff in meeting the

objectives. 

25. Before and after her treatment plan was adopted, Plaintiff, with her guardian ad

litem, sought services from Horizons Specialized Services, Inc. in Craig, Colorado.  Horizons

Specialized Services, Inc. is the community center board that provides supported living services
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to individuals with developmental disabilities in northwestern Colorado.  Plaintiff was unable to

receive services in Colorado because the waiting list was estimated to be years long.

26. In June 2005, Plaintiff, through her guardian ad litem, identified a Utah service

provider, appropriate to Plaintiff’s disability, who could help her meet her treatment plan

objectives, but Rio Blanco County refused to pay for those services.   

27. Colorado counties are required to offer and provide services to parents to promote

reunification of families.

28. In July 2005, Plaintiff first began to receive services through the Utah Department

of Human Services, Division of Services for People with Disabilities, after reaching the top of a

waiting list for services.  Plaintiff was unable to immediately begin working on all of her

treatment plan goals, however, the nature of her developmental disability necessitated a several

months long period of evaluation to assess her employment, household management, financial

management, self-care, communication, educational, and parenting skills in order to develop a

long-term service plan.

29. Plaintiff’s service plan includes the supports necessary to establish and maintain a

permanent home, manage finances, participate in work activities, and assistance with parenting

tasks.

30. By September, 2005, Plaintiff had made remarkable progress toward meeting her

treatment plan goals, particularly with regard to her self-care, household management, and

parenting skills, but due to the length of time to complete evaluations, a long term service plan

could not be established until November 2005.  
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31. On October 13, 2005, Plaintiff, through her guardian ad litem again asked the

Defendants to provide reasonable modifications under the ADA, this time for an extension to

allow her to complete her treatment plan.  Plaintiff never received a response to that request.

32. On November 1, 2005, Plaintiff through the undersigned attorney, again asked

Defendants to provide an extension of time as a reasonable modifications under the ADA, and

also asked the Defendants to tell her any reasons why they might believe a modification would

not be reasonable.  Plaintiff has not received any response to this most recent request either.  

33. On November 11, 2005, Kent Borchard, assistant county attorney, told Plaintiff’s

guardian ad litem, and court appointed attorney in the state court proceeding that in light of her

federal complaint and motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction that

he intended to file a motion to terminate her parental rights immediately. 

34. Plaintiff has been harmed, and continues to be harmed by Defendants actions.

35. Defendants receive federal funds from the Chafee Foster Care Independence

Program in the amount of $14,740 for October 1, 2005 to September 30, 2006.  

36. Defendants receive federal funds from the Community Service Block Grant

program in the amount of $6,967 for March 1, 2004 to February 28, 2005 and $8,873 for March

1, 2005 to February 8, 2006.

37. On information and belief, Rio Blanco County receives federal funds from other

sources, including other funds from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Claim I: Violation of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act
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38. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

39. Defendants are public entities as that term is used in 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and the

individual responsible for administering those entities. 

40. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of disability, in

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12132 and its implementing regulations, by failing to provide reasonable

modifications to policies, practices and procedures. 

41. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12203

and its implementing regulations, by retaliating against Plaintiff for filing a federal complaint

and for seeking a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction.  

42. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12203

and its implementing regulations, by coercing, intimidating, threatening, and or interfering with

her rights under the ADA.

43. Defendants have acted with deliberate indifference to the strong likelihood that

pursuit of Defendants’ questioned policies, and failure to provide reasonable modifications,

would likely result in a violation of federally protected rights.

44. Plaintiff has been injured and aggrieved by, and will continue to be injured and

aggrieved by, Defendants’ discrimination.  

Claim II:  Violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act

45. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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46. Defendant Rio Blanco County receives federal financial assistance as that term is

used in 29 U.S.C. § 794.  Defendant Ruckman is the individual responsible for administering the

relevant program.  

47. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of disability, in

violation of 29 U.S.C. § 794 and its implementing regulations, as more fully described above.  

Such discrimination includes but is not limited to failure to provide reasonable modifications,

and retaliation for and/or coercion, intimidation, threats and/or interference with the exercise of

Plaintiff’s rights under the Rehabilitation Act and its implementing regulations.

48. Defendants have acted with deliberate indifference to the strong likelihood that

pursuit of Defendants questioned policies, and failure to provide reasonable modifications would

likely result in a violation of federally protected rights.

49. Plaintiff has been injured and aggrieved by, and will continue to be injured and

aggrieved by, Defendants’ discrimination.  

Relief Requested

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests:  

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court declare the actions of Defendants described in this Complaint to

be in violation of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act;

3. That this Court enter an injunction ordering Defendants to cease discrimination

on the basis of disability in the provision of services to Plaintiff; 
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4. That this Court award Plaintiff compensatory damages under Title II of the ADA

and under Rehabilitation Act against Defendant Rio Blanco County; 

5. That this Court award Plaintiff her reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiff demand a jury for all claims properly tried to a jury.  

Dated:   November 29, 2005 Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION

 s/ Carrie Ann Lucas                                         
Carrie Ann Lucas
Equal Justice Works Fellow
clucas@ccdconline.org
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
kwilliams@ccdconline.org
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
303.839.1775 (voice)
303.839.1782 (fax)

Amy F. Robertson
Timothy P. Fox
Fox & Robertson. PC
910 - 16th Street, Suite 610
Denver, CO 80202
303.595.9700 (voice)
303.595.9705 (fax)
arob@foxrob.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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Address of Plaintiff Valarie Kralicek

980 W. Market Drive
Vernal, UT 84708
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